2008

# Val M. Ellison v. Utah County Government and Hartford Life & Accident Insurance Company : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

**JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

This Court has pour-over jurisdiction under section 78A-4-103(2)(j) of the Utah Code. The Utah Supreme Court had jurisdiction under section 78A-3-102(3)(j) of the Utah Code. The order appealed from was entered January 23, 2008.<sup>1</sup> The plaintiff-appellant filed his Notice of Appeal on February 8, 2008, which was timely under rule 4(a) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure.

---

<sup>1</sup>R. 647-657.

## **ISSUES PRESENTED AND STANDARDS OF REVIEW**

1. Was summary judgment precluded by genuine issues of material fact? “An appellate court reviews a trial court’s legal conclusions and ultimate grant or denial of summary judgment for correctness, and views the facts and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.”<sup>2</sup>

## **DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, ORDINANCES, RULES, AND REGULATIONS**

There are not any specific constitutional provisions, statutes, ordinances, rules, or regulations whose interpretation alone is determinative of this appeal or of central importance to it.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

### **A. Nature of the Case.**

This is an appeal from a final order of dismissal entered on summary judgment in a civil case.

### **B. Course of Proceedings and Disposition Below.**

The plaintiff-appellant, Val M. Ellison, filed his complaint on June 30, 2005.<sup>3</sup> Hartford Life and Accident Insurance Co. (“Hartford”), a defendant-appellee, filed a motion

---

<sup>2</sup>Orvis v. Johnson, 2008 UT 2, ¶ 6, 177 P.3d 600 (citations and internal quotation marks omitted).

<sup>3</sup>R. 2-12.

for summary judgment on December 1, 2006.<sup>4</sup> Later, Utah County Government (“the County”), also a defendant-appellee, filed a motion for summary judgment on January 26, 2007.<sup>5</sup> Mr. Ellison filed a response to Hartford’s motion on January 5, 2007,<sup>6</sup> and a response to the County’s motion on March 27, 2007.<sup>7</sup>

Oral arguments on the defendants’ motions were held July 20, 2007.<sup>8</sup> At the conclusion of oral arguments, the trial court ruled from the bench in favor of the defendants.<sup>9</sup> Soon thereafter, Hartford prepared and filed a proposed order granting the defendants’ motions for summary judgment, and Mr. Ellison filed a written objection to it on October 4, 2007.<sup>10</sup> In a minute entry dated January 22, 2008, the trial court acknowledged that Hartford’s proposed order “does, indeed, extend substantially beyond the rationale and findings expressed by the Court at the time of the hearing.”<sup>11</sup> Nevertheless, after deleting only part of a single paragraph of the proposed order, the trial court went ahead and caused

---

<sup>4</sup>R. 73-76.

<sup>5</sup>R. 502-504.

<sup>6</sup>R. 416-435.

<sup>7</sup>R. 539-612

<sup>8</sup>R. 641-644.

<sup>9</sup>R. 644.

<sup>10</sup>R. 645-657.

<sup>11</sup>For some reason, this Minute Entry does not appear in the record. Mr. Ellison is in the process of filing a motion to correct this error in the record.

Hartford's proposed order to be entered anyway on January 23, 2008.<sup>12</sup> On February 8, 2008, Mr. Ellison filed a Notice of Appeal.<sup>13</sup>

**C. Statement of Facts.**

Because this appeal asserts that there are disputed issues of material fact, such facts are discussed in greater detail in the argument section of this brief. The following, however, is a brief overview of the relevant facts.

Val Ellison entered into an employment contract with the County, pursuant to which he began working for the County in July 1995.<sup>14</sup> As part of this employment contract, the County agreed to provide life insurance for Mr. Ellison and supplemental life-insurance coverage for his dependents.<sup>15</sup> Sometime thereafter, Mr. Ellison purchased a supplemental life-insurance policy on his wife, Sherrie Ellison, through Hartford ("the Policy").<sup>16</sup> Neither the County or Hartford ever provided Mr. Ellison or his wife with a copy of the Policy.<sup>17</sup>

---

<sup>12</sup>R. 647-657.

<sup>13</sup>See R. 658-659.

<sup>14</sup>R. 408, 598, 606.

<sup>15</sup>R. 408, 598, 605.

<sup>16</sup>R. 408, 431, 598, 605.

<sup>17</sup>R. 555-556, 595.

Among other things, the Policy states that the County’s “responsibilities include: . . . Notifying employees of their right to exercise the Conversion Privilege” in situations where, for example, a dependent may be excluded from coverage under the Policy by divorce.<sup>18</sup>

Although Mr. Ellison and his wife eventually divorced, they had “an agreement” that the Policy would be used to “help the kids with education and things like that.”<sup>19</sup> Mr. Ellison’s wife specially told him “to use the insurance to help the kids with missions and schooling and so forth.”<sup>20</sup> Due to the existence of this agreement, neither Mr. Ellison or his wife thought it was necessary to subsequently address the Policy in their divorce decree.<sup>21</sup>

Given the fact that Mr. Ellison and his wife were preparing for divorce, as well as the fact that Mr. Ellison’s wife suffered from terminal cancer, Mr. Ellison contacted the County’s human-resource department to learn what he needed to do to maintain the Policy after divorce.<sup>22</sup> An unidentified representative from the County’s human-resource department told Mr. Ellison that he only needed to “continue to make the premium payments in order to continue life insurance coverage.”<sup>23</sup> This County representative did not tell Mr. Ellison that

---

<sup>18</sup>R. 406-407, 542, 595.

<sup>19</sup>R. 323, 431, 597.

<sup>20</sup>R. 287, 431, 548, 597.

<sup>21</sup>R. 287, 431, 548, 597.

<sup>22</sup>R. 271-272, 276-277, 282, 405, 597, 604-605.

<sup>23</sup>R. 271, 276-277, 320, 404-405, 558, 597.



he needed to fill out any additional paperwork or take any further action to ensure coverage after divorce.<sup>24</sup>

During this conversation with the County representative in question, Mr. Ellison asked for “something in writing” to confirm what the representative had told him.<sup>25</sup> In response, the representative gave Mr. Ellison Hartford’s telephone number and told him to call it to obtain the written confirmation he desired.<sup>26</sup> Consequently, on January 30, 2003, Mr. Ellison contacted Hartford by telephone at the number the County representative had given to him.<sup>27</sup>

During Mr. Ellison’s telephone call to Hartford, he spoke with Hartford employee Linda Daly.<sup>28</sup> Mr. Ellison told Ms. Daly that the County “told me that you can continue insurance on your spouse even if you get divorced.”<sup>29</sup> Ms. Daly confirmed the County’s representations regarding the Policy and said, “[Y]es. . . . I think that’s your option if you want to and you continue to . . . they’re going to be payroll deducting for her[,] so if you want to keep her on there, that’s fine.”<sup>30</sup> Ms. Daly did not, however, ever tell Mr. Ellison that he

---

<sup>24</sup>R. 271, 276-277, 363-364, 405, 431, 558, 597, 603.

<sup>25</sup>R. 430, 573, 597, 603.

<sup>26</sup>R. 405, 430, 573-574, 597, 603.

<sup>27</sup>R. 430, 553, 552, 596.

<sup>28</sup>R. 404, 430, 573-574, 596.

<sup>29</sup>R. 430, 573-574, 596.

<sup>30</sup>R. 320, 336, 430, 573-574, 596.

needed to fill out any additional paperwork or take any further action in order to ensure coverage after divorce.<sup>31</sup>

As Mr. Ellison's conversation with Ms. Daly came to a close, Ms. Daly told Mr. Ellison that she would transfer his call to a different Hartford employee so that he could obtain any additional verification that he might desire.<sup>32</sup> As a result, Mr. Ellison then spoke with a second, albeit unidentified, Hartford employee about the continuation of the Policy following divorce.<sup>33</sup> This Hartford employee also told Mr. Ellison that the *only* thing he needed to do to continue coverage under the Policy after his divorce was to continue paying the required premiums.<sup>34</sup> Whether Mr. Ellison's conversation with this second Hartford employee was recorded is unknown, but Mr. Ellison has not been given a copy of any such recording.<sup>35</sup>

Due to the multiple representations that the defendants' employees made to Mr. Ellison about the continuation of the Policy following divorce, Mr. Ellison simply continued to pay the Policy premiums following his divorce.<sup>36</sup> He did not complete any additional

---

<sup>31</sup>R. 331, 430, 573-574.

<sup>32</sup>R. 335, 573-574.

<sup>33</sup>R. 334-335, 337, 430.

<sup>34</sup>R. 334, 430.

<sup>35</sup>R. 403.

<sup>36</sup>R. 296-297, 333.

paperwork or take any further action.<sup>37</sup> Instead, he simply followed the County and Hartford employees' instructions: i.e., he just continued to pay the premiums.<sup>38</sup>

Mr. Ellison's divorce was finalized on August 21, 2003.<sup>39</sup> Soon thereafter, on October 27, 2003, his former wife, Sherrie Ellison, passed away following a long bout with cancer.<sup>40</sup> However, during the period of time between their divorce and Ms. Ellison's subsequent death, the County continued to deduct from Mr. Ellison's income to pay the premiums on the Policy, and Hartford continued to accept these payments.<sup>41</sup> Nevertheless, when Mr. Ellison later filed a claim for benefits under the Policy as a result of Ms. Ellison's passing, the defendants denied his claim and refused to honor either the Policy or the multiple representations that they had made to him about the Policy.<sup>42</sup> The defendants' stated reason for denying Mr. Ellison's claim was that neither he or Ms. Ellison ever completed the necessary steps to have the Policy "converted" after their divorce.<sup>43</sup>

---

<sup>37</sup>R. 333.

<sup>38</sup>R. 296-298, 333.

<sup>39</sup>R. 405, 605.

<sup>40</sup>R. 405, 604-605.

<sup>41</sup>R. 296-297.

<sup>42</sup>R. 402, 601.

<sup>43</sup>R. 300-301, 401-402, 598.

## **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

This case is about whether or not the trial court erred by granting the defendants' motions for summary judgment when there are genuine issues of material fact. For example, there are disputed issues of material fact as to whether the defendants made misrepresentations, either knowingly or recklessly, to Mr. Ellison upon which he reasonably relied to his detriment. There are disputed issues of material fact as to whether the defendants acted unfairly and in bad faith in various respects. And there are disputed issues of material fact as to whether Mr. Ellison's conduct was reasonable under the circumstances.

It is Mr. Ellison's contention that, by either discrediting or disregarding the admissible evidence giving rise to these disputed material facts, and by otherwise ignoring various reasonable inferences in Mr. Ellison's favor, the trial court erred. Consequently, the trial court's grant of summary judgment for the defendants should be reversed, and this matter should be remanded so that the parties may continue to prepare for trial.

## **ARGUMENT**

### **SUMMARY JUDGMENT WAS PRECLUDED BY GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT**

The defendants' motions for summary judgment should have been denied because there were genuine issues of material fact. "A summary judgment movant must show both that there is no material issue of fact and that the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter

of law.”<sup>44</sup> Summary judgment is appropriate only “if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.”<sup>45</sup> The “facts and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom” must be viewed “in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.”<sup>46</sup> Indeed, even where the parties are “not in complete conflict as to certain facts,” but “the understanding, intention, and consequences of those facts [are] vigorously disputed,” the matter is not proper for summary judgment and “can only be resolved by a trial.”<sup>47</sup>

Given that there are disputed issues of material fact in this case, it was improper for the trial court to grant the defendants’ motions for summary judgment.

**I. THERE IS ADMISSIBLE EVIDENCE OF MISREPRESENTATIONS THAT CREATE GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT.**

In anticipation of his divorce, Mr. Ellison acted with reasonable diligence to determine whether and how coverage under the Policy might be affected in the event of divorce. Because neither of the defendants had ever provided Mr. Ellison with a copy of the Policy, he contacted at least one County employee and two Hartford employees in order to make this

---

<sup>44</sup>Orvis v. Johnson, 2008 UT 2, ¶ 12, 177 P.3d 600.

<sup>45</sup>Utah R. Civ. P. 56(c).

<sup>46</sup>Orvis, 2008 UT 2, ¶ 6.

<sup>47</sup>Sandberg v. Klein, 576 P.2d 1291, 1292 (Utah 1978).

determination.<sup>48</sup> All three of these individuals, in succession and without exception, informed Mr. Ellison that his anticipated divorce would in no way affect coverage if he simply continued to pay the premiums.<sup>49</sup> None of these three individuals told Mr. Ellison that he needed to take additional action, beyond simply paying the premiums, to secure coverage.<sup>50</sup> In reliance upon these representations, Mr. Ellison stopped investigating the matter any further and instead simply continued to pay the necessary premiums, as he had been advised.<sup>51</sup> Nevertheless, when he subsequently filed a claim for benefits under the Policy, his claim was denied because he had failed, according to the defendants, to properly “convert” his Policy at the time of divorce.<sup>52</sup>

Due to the defendants’ failure to honor Mr. Ellison’s insurance claim, Mr. Ellison filed the present lawsuit against them, alleging fraud, estoppel, negligence, breach of contract, and breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing.<sup>53</sup> In opposition to this lawsuit, the defendants filed motions for summary judgment seeking to have this matter

---

<sup>48</sup>R. 271-272, 276-277, 282, 334-335, 337, 404-405, 430, 573-574, 596-597, 604-605.

<sup>49</sup>R. 271, 276-277, 320, 331, 334, 336, 363-364, 404-405, 430-431, 558, 573-574, 596-597, 603.

<sup>50</sup>R. 271, 276-277, 331, 363-364, 405, 430-431, 558, 573-574, 597, 603.

<sup>51</sup>R. 296-298, 333.

<sup>52</sup>R. 300-301, 401-402, 598, 601.

<sup>53</sup>R. 2-12.

dismissed with prejudice.<sup>54</sup> The trial court granted both of these motions in favor of the defendants.<sup>55</sup> One of the main reasons why the trial court granted these motions was because, in the court's opinion, there was no admissible evidence that Mr. Ellison had a conversation with any County or Hartford employee (other than with Linda Daly) regarding continuation of the Policy after divorce.<sup>56</sup> This opinion, however, is incorrect. In particular, Mr. Ellison has presented admissible evidence of representations that the defendants' employees made to him about the continuation of the Policy after divorce, and, as explained below, this evidence creates genuine issues of material fact.

**A. Credibility.**

Mr. Ellison presented evidence to the trial court of conversations he had with (1) at least one unidentified County employee from the County's human-resource department; (2) Linda Daly, a Hartford employee; and (3) another, albeit unidentified, Hartford employee. The trial court purported to make findings of fact with respect to this evidence and found that

---

<sup>54</sup>R. 73-76, 502-504.

<sup>55</sup>R. 641-644.

<sup>56</sup>R. 648, 651.

it was not either “credible”<sup>57</sup> or “reliable.”<sup>58</sup> Concerns over the credibility of evidence, however, are issues of fact that should only be resolved at trial—*not* by summary judgment.<sup>59</sup>

Regarding the credibility of the evidence Mr. Ellison presented about his conversation with a representative of the County’s human-resource department and with the unidentified Hartford representative, the trial court apparently discredited and disregarded this evidence because, according to the trial court, the evidence is “self-serving.”<sup>60</sup> But, self-serving or not, credibility is a question of fact that should be reserved for trial.<sup>61</sup> “The fact finder may or may not find such self-serving testimony credible.”<sup>62</sup> The decision belongs to the fact finder.<sup>63</sup> It was, therefore, improper to decide these credibility issues on summary judgment.

**B. Reasonable Inferences.**

Not only is the credibility of evidence an issue of fact that should be decided at trial, but to the extent any inferences reasonably arising out of such evidence create disputed issues

---

<sup>57</sup>Transcript, at 60.

<sup>58</sup>R. 7.

<sup>59</sup>van der Heyde v. First Colony Life Ins. Co., 845 P.2d 275, 280 (Utah Ct. App. 1993).

<sup>60</sup>Transcript, at 61.

<sup>61</sup>Larsen v. Exclusive Cars, Inc., 2004 UT App. 259, ¶ 11 n.2, 297 P.3d 714.

<sup>62</sup>van der Heyde, 845 P.2d at 280.

<sup>63</sup>Id.



of material fact, then summary judgment should be denied.<sup>64</sup> In the present case, there are various reasonable inferences which, viewed in the light most favorable to Mr. Ellison, create genuine issues of material fact sufficient to preclude summary judgment. Many of such inferences are a product of Mr. Ellison's recorded and subsequently-transcribed telephone conversation with Hartford employee Linda Daly.<sup>65</sup>

Given that Mr. Ellison's telephone conversation with Ms. Daly was recorded, the fact that Mr. Ellison had a telephone conversation with Ms. Daly about the Policy is undisputed.<sup>66</sup> The admissibility of the transcript of this conversation is also undisputed.<sup>67</sup> What is disputed, however, is the interpretation and meaning of this conversation, as well as any inferences arising therefrom. This dispute is, alone, a sufficient basis for reversing the trial court's grant of summary judgment for the defendants.

During their telephone conversation, Mr. Ellison informed Ms. Daly that he had obtained her telephone number from the County, that the County had told him that he only needed to continue paying the premiums to maintain coverage, and that he wanted verification from Hartford confirming the County's representations.<sup>68</sup> Ms. Daly affirmed the

---

<sup>64</sup>Orvis v. Johnson, 2008 UT 2, ¶ 6, 177 P.3d 600 (citations and internal quotation marks omitted).

<sup>65</sup>R. 573-574.

<sup>66</sup>R. 404, 430, 573-574, 596; Transcript, at 51:10-12.

<sup>67</sup>Transcript, at 51:11-12.

<sup>68</sup>R. 573-574.

County's representations and stated: "[Y]es. . . . I think that's your option if you want to [continue coverage after divorce;] when you continue to, they are going to be payroll deducting for [Sherrie Ellison], so if you want to keep her on there, that's fine."<sup>69</sup>

As Mr. Ellison's conversation with Ms. Daly came to a close, Ms. Daly told Mr. Ellison that, if he wished, she would have his call transferred to a second Hartford employee so that he could obtain any additional verification that he might desire.<sup>70</sup> Consequently, Mr. Ellison's call was transferred to a different Hartford employee.<sup>71</sup> According to Mr. Ellison's sworn testimony, this second Hartford employee again confirmed that the Policy would not be affected by divorce so long as the premiums were paid.<sup>72</sup>

This telephone conversation between Mr. Ellison and Ms. Daly creates various reasonable inferences which, when viewed in the light most favorable to Mr. Ellison as the nonmoving party, create genuine issues of material fact that should have been preserved for trial, such as the following:

First, given that Mr. Ellison obtained Ms. Daly's telephone number from the County, it may be reasonably inferred that Mr. Ellison did in fact speak with the County representative that gave him Ms. Daly's number. This inference tends to corroborate Mr.

---

<sup>69</sup>R. 320, 336, 430, 573-574, 596.

<sup>70</sup>R. 335, 573-574.

<sup>71</sup>R. 334-335, 337, 430.

<sup>72</sup>R. 334, 430.

Ellison's testimony that he spoke with a representative of the County's human-resource department, and that this representative told Mr. Ellison that he did not need to do anything except continue to pay the premiums in order to maintain coverage following divorce.

Second, given that Ms. Daly told Mr. Ellison that she would transfer his call to a different Hartford employee so that he could obtain any additional assurances that he might desire, it can be reasonably inferred that Mr. Ellison's call was in fact transferred to a different Hartford employee. It can also be reasonably inferred that Mr. Ellison spoke with this second Hartford employee about the Policy. These reasonable inferences, when viewed in the light most favorable to Mr. Ellison, corroborate Mr. Ellison's testimony that he spoke with a second Hartford employee, and that this employee agreed with the representations that had been previously made to him concerning continuation of the Policy.

Third, given that, after speaking with the defendants' employees, Mr. Ellison apparently took no action (other than to continue paying the premiums) to secure coverage under the Policy, it can be reasonably inferred that these employees did in fact tell Mr. Ellison that he only needed to continue to pay the premiums to maintain coverage. Among other things, this inference creates a genuine issue of material fact as to whether Mr. Ellison reasonably relied upon the representations that the defendants' employees made to him.

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