2008

# Val M. Ellison v. Utah County Government and Hartford Life and Accident Insurance Company : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

**C. Utah County's Actions Did not Cause Plaintiff's Injury.**

With respect to the prima facie element of causation, "an essential element in a negligence action is that the plaintiff establish the necessary connection between the defendant's negligence and the plaintiff's injury." Weber v. Springville City, 725 P.2d 1360, 1367 (Utah 1986). The Utah Supreme Court explained in detail:

A plaintiff's inability to establish evidence of factual cause is fatal to his or her negligence claim. The classic formulation for determining factual cause is that a defendant's negligent act or omission must be a necessary antecedent to the plaintiff's injury. . . . The plaintiff must introduce evidence which affords a

---

<sup>1</sup> There is no evidence that Utah County personnel knew that Plaintiff's wife was ill prior to his divorce. Indeed, Plaintiff cannot testify that he ever fully informed anyone at Utah County of the extent of his wife's illness. (See Ellison Dep. pp. 106-108; Record pp. 276-274.)

reasonable basis for the conclusion that it is more likely than not that the conduct of the defendant was a cause in fact of the result. A mere possibility of such, causation is not enough; and when the matter remains one of pure speculation or conjecture, or the probabilities are at best evenly balanced, it becomes the duty of the court to direct a verdict for the defendant.

Id.

Assuming, for the purpose of a Motion for Summary Judgment only, that Utah County in fact owed a legal duty to Plaintiff in this matter, the documentary evidence and deposition testimony fail to establish how the comments of an unknown and unidentified Utah County employee, that Ms. Ellison's life could continue to be insured as Plaintiff's dependent after their divorce, was the proximate cause of Plaintiff's alleged damages. As the Supreme Court explained in Weber, Utah County's negligent act or omission must be a necessary antecedent to the denial of Plaintiff's claim for the dependent life insurance policy on his former wife. In this case, there is a complete lack of evidence in support of the causal connection between the comments by the mystery Utah County employee and the denial of the claim.

Without this evidentiary support, Plaintiff's only recourse to prove causation by a series of assumptions, speculations, and personal belief. First, he asks the court to assume that he would have disregarded the mis-information he allegedly got from Hartford about continuing his ex-wife's policy and demanded a conversion form despite the fact that they told him he did not need one. Second, he asks the court to assume that his wife would have elected to convert her dependent life insurance policy and then name him as the

beneficiary after their divorce; despite any evidence to support that she would have done so. Third, he asks the court to believe that Hartford would have approved the claim and he would have received the \$200,000 from the policy. Clearly, Plaintiff's speculation about the way things would have happened and his rank conjecture of his ex-wife's intent is insufficient evidence to conclude that Plaintiff was damaged as a result of Utah County's actions.

In light of the foregoing, judgment as a matter of law is warranted in this case because Plaintiff fails to establish the prima facie elements of negligence. Namely, he fails to establish any alleged legal obligation owed by Utah County to him, breach of the alleged duty, and proof of a causal connection between the denial of his claim and the statements of an unknown Utah County employee that as long as he kept paying the premiums after divorce, he would receive the proceeds of the dependent life insurance after his wife's death.

**POINT II. PLAINTIFF'S CLAIM FOR BREACH OF CONTRACT HAS NO SUPPORT IN THE FACTS OR THE LAW.**

"The elements of a prima facie case for breach of contract are (1) a contract, (2) performance by the party seeking performance, (3) breach of the contract by the other party, and (4) damages." Bair v. Axiom Design, LLC, 20 P.3d 388, 392 (Utah 2001).

Plaintiff claims that his employment contract was breached by Utah County when an unidentified county employee allegedly informed him that the dependent life insurance

policy on the name of his soon-to-be ex-wife would continue as long as the premiums were paid. Plaintiff further claims that the breach of contract occurred when he was allegedly not informed of the procedure to convert the life insurance policy on his dependent spouse after the divorce. Plaintiff's claim for breach of contract fails as a matter of law because he cannot establish and prove the essential elements of the claim.

In the first instance, Plaintiff has not produced a written contract between his employer, Utah County, that would detail the scope of the contractual relationship. However, even assuming that Plaintiff is relying on a common law, at-will employment relationship as the underlying contract in his claim, he merely raises the allegation that Utah County was contractually obligated to him to communicate or provide information concerning fringe benefits, including supplemental life insurance on his dependents. Absent evidence of a written contract, or an oral contract, Plaintiff cannot prove the first element of a *prima facie* claim for breach of contract—an actual contract.

The minor disputes over whether Utah County handed Plaintiff a copy of the policy or simply made it available at the annual job fair and whether the mystery employee told him about necessity of conversion after his divorce are immaterial because Plaintiff has not produced a contract indicating that such action or inaction would be a breach.

Plaintiff alleges that Utah County failed to perform its part of the employment agreement, yet he can only produce his own bare allegations that the erroneous, out-of-



court comments of an unknown and unidentified employee concerning the status of his soon-to-be ex-wife's dependent life insurance was a breach of the employment contract. Plaintiff claims that he was misinformed by the mystery Personnel employee and that he relied on the oral representations made to him prior to divorcing and prior to the death of Ms. Ellison. However, Plaintiff fails to provide any information regarding the identity of the employee, asking this Court only to take his word at face value that her actions were a breach of the contract. Therefore, not only is there no proof of an actual contract, there is no evidentiary support for the performance of either party.

Plaintiff's breach of contract also fails because he has failed to produce evidence in support of his damages. Breach of contract damages are necessary to place the aggrieved party in the same economic position the party would have been in if the contract was not breached. See Mahmood v. Ross, 990 P.2d 933, 937 (Utah 1999).

The Utah Supreme Court has offered the following explanation concerning damages arising out of a breach of contract claim:

Typically, there are two types of damages a non-breaching party can recover in an action for breach of contract: "general damages, which flow naturally from the breach, and consequential damages, which, while not an invariable result of breach, were reasonably foreseeable by the parties at the time the contract was entered into." Id. (citing Beck v. Farmers Ins. Exch., 701 P.2d 795, 801 (Utah 1985)).

To recover consequential damages, a non-breaching party must prove (1) that consequential damages were caused by the contract breach; (2) that consequential damages ought to be allowed because they were foreseeable at the time the parties contracted; and (3) the amount of consequential

damages within a reasonable certainty.

Mahmood, 990 P.2d at 937-38. In Billings v. Union Bankers Ins. Co., 918 P.2d 461, 466 (Utah 1996), the Court ruled that consequential damages are limited to those reasonably foreseeable or contemplated by the parties when contract was entered into.

Assuming, only for the purposes of this appeal, that Plaintiff has evidentiary support of an employment contract, Plaintiff fails to show any general or consequential damages resulting from the alleged breach of the contract by Utah County. It is well-established that the purpose of breach of contract damages is to place the plaintiff in an economic position that he would have been in had the breach not occurred.

Plaintiff cannot prove general damages because no evidence exists that he incurred any damages as a result of his reliance on the comments of an unknown Utah County employee on an unknown date. Plaintiff argues that he is entitled to \$200,000 for the life of his ex-wife after they divorced because his claim was denied by Hartford due to Ms. Ellison's failure to convert the dependent life insurance policy after their divorce. However, Plaintiff does not provide any evidence that Ms. Ellison's failure to convert the policy was due to the comments of the unidentified personnel employee—the court is to simply assume that she would have converted it had Plaintiff been told about the conversion by the personnel employee.

Regardless, Plaintiff was advised by the employee that he should confirm with the insurance company what steps must be taken to change the status of a dependent policy

after he and his spouse divorced. Thus, the onus was on the plaintiff to educate himself and arrange his own affairs in anticipation of his divorce; the same way he did for his own health, dental, and life insurance and for the benefit of his minor children in the divorce decree. Plaintiff cannot show that he would have asked his wife to convert the policy (despite the information given him by Hartford), that she indeed would have converted it and that Hartford would have processed and paid the claim.

With regard to the recovery of consequential damages, Plaintiff fails to prove that his alleged consequential damages were caused by the breach of his employment contract by Utah County. Specifically, Plaintiff fails to establish that he incurred any consequential damages because no such damages were foreseeable at the inception of his employment in 1995. As the court explained in Mahmood, to recover consequential damages, the plaintiff must prove “that consequential damages ought to be allowed because they were foreseeable at the time the parties contracted.” 990 P.2d at 938. Because the damages were not reasonably foreseeable or contemplated by Plaintiff and/or Utah County in 1995, Plaintiff’s claim for breach of contract fails as a matter of law.

**POINT III. PLAINTIFF FAILS TO PROVIDE EVIDENCE OF FRAUD  
ON THE PART OF UTAH COUNTY GOVERNMENT.**

Rule 9(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure provides that “in all averments of fraud or mistake, the circumstances constituting fraud or mistake shall be stated with particularity.” In Taylor v. Gasor, 607 P.2d 293, 294-95 (Utah 1990), the Supreme Court

noted the following:

A finding of fraud must be based on the existence of all its essential elements, i.e., the making of a false representation concerning a presently existing material fact which the representor either knew to be false or made recklessly without sufficient knowledge, or the omission of a material fact when there is a duty to disclose, for the purpose of inducing action on the part of the other party, with actual, justifiable reliance resulting in damage to that party. . . . As stated in Lundstrom v. Radio Corporation of America, 405 P.2d 339, 341 (1965), “fraud is a wrong of such nature that it must be shown by clear and convincing proof and will not lie in mere suspicion or innuendo.”

Accordingly, the law requires that averments of fraud be pled with particularity. See id.

In this case, Plaintiff’s fraud claim fails for lack of evidentiary support.

Specifically, Plaintiff has failed to establish the identity of the Utah County Personnel employee whom he claims misinformed him; Plaintiff has failed to establish by clear and convincing evidence that the oral representations made by this mystery personnel employee were actually made; and Plaintiff cannot show that the (unidentified) misrepresentor knew the comments she made were false and/or reckless. Absent more specific or concrete evidence supporting these essential elements of fraud, Plaintiff’s claim for fraud fails as a matter of law.

Even assuming, for the sake of argument, that the Plaintiff’s allegations are true and he was told by Utah County that his es-wife’s life insurance would continue if he simply paid his premiums, he admits to also being informed by the mystery employee to confirm the information directly with the insurance carrier, Hartford. This fact is critical because it shows that there was no intent to deceive Plaintiff and that the comments were

not recklessly made; the mystery employee told Plaintiff what she believed to be the truth, but advised him to confirm her comments with the insurance carrier.<sup>2</sup> Therefore, under Plaintiff's version of the facts, there still can be no fraud.

Plaintiff spends many pages of his appeal brief arguing that whether he acted with reasonable diligence or reasonably relied upon the representations by Utah County are questions of fact. While that may or may not be true, it is wholly irrelevant in this matter because Plaintiff has failed to show that a representation was actually made- a requirement under Utah law. See Franco v. Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints, 21 P.3d 198, 207-08 (Utah 2001). Because Plaintiff relies solely on his own unsubstantiated testimony that a Utah County employee made an erroneous comment about the conversion of his wife's supplemental dependent life insurance policy, he cannot show by clear and convincing evidence that the statement upon which he bases his fraud claim was actually made and cannot succeed at trial.

---

<sup>2</sup>It is worth noting that a Divorce Decree was entered after deliberations and negotiations between each parties' legal counsel. The Divorce Decree is specific in the obligations and responsibilities of each party with respect to the allocation of assets and debts, visitation rights, and including several provisions concerning insurance. In particular, the Divorce Decree is detailed and explicit with respect to Plaintiff's responsibility to have health and dental coverage for the minor children **as well as to insure his own life** through his employment. Noticeably absent however, is any information concerning a life insurance policy on Ms. Ellison. A detailed divorce decree, negotiated with the assistance of counsel, would also have mentioned Ms. Ellison's dependent life insurance policy and her intent to leave Plaintiff as the beneficiary if there was indeed such an agreement.

Discovery has failed to produce any evidence that the statement was made in the first place, but even if the statement was made, no evidence exists as to who made it. Without knowledge of, or the ability to establish, the identity of the person Plaintiff blames for misinforming him, plaintiff cannot prove to a jury the comment was made. Simply stated, Plaintiff's allegations must be substantiated by the evidence, and none has been produced and discovered in this case. See Winter v. Northwest Pipeline Corp., 820 P.2d 916, 919 (Utah 1991) ("allegations of a pleading or factual conclusion of an affidavit are insufficient to raise a general issue of fact.").

To establish a fraud claim, Franco also requires a misrepresentation to be made with "insufficient knowledge upon which to base such representation," which Plaintiff also fails to prove with clear and convincing evidence. Id. In particular, plaintiff testified that was informed by the mystery county personnel employee to contact the insurance company "to make sure or to have any other questions answered." (Ellison Dep., p. 106; Record p. 276.) Clearly, plaintiff was referred to Hartford for substantiation and clarification. Therefore, Plaintiff's own testimony shows that the county employee did not have an intent to deceive or made her comment with insufficient knowledge, rather referred him to the insurance company for clarification and confirmation. Plaintiff acted on the statement and called Hartford, who allegedly informed him that as long as premiums were paid, his wife's life would be covered after the divorce. Thus, any alleged damage plaintiff incurred was not the result of any actions or statements by the

county employee.

Considering the undisputed evidence, plaintiff fails to establish a cause of action for fraud against Utah County because he admittedly has no clear and convincing evidence he can present to the jury to support his claim.

**POINT IV. PLAINTIFF LACKS STANDING TO SUE FOR THE  
DEPENDENT LIFE INSURANCE PROCEEDS.**

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